IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 95-20627

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
VERSUS
ATTI QUE AHVAD,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Southern District of Texas

Novenber 27, 1996
Before POLI TZ, Chief Judge, SM TH and DUHE, Circuit Judges.

JERRY EE. SMTH, G rcuit Judge:

Attique Ahnmad appeals his conviction of, and sentence for,
crimnal violations of the Clean Water Act (“CWA"). Concl udi ng
that the district court erred in its instructions to the jury, we

reverse and remand.

This case arises from the discharge of a large quantity of



gasoline into the sewers of Conroe, Texas, in January 1994, I n
1992, Ahmad purchased the “Spin-N-Market No. 12,” a conbination
conveni ence store and gas station located at the intersection of
Second and Lewis Streets in Conroe. The Spin-N Market has two
gasol i ne punps, each of which is fed by an 8000-gal | on under ground
gasol i ne tank. Sone tine after Ahmad bought the station, he
di scovered that one of the tanks, which held high-octane gasoline,
was | eaking. This did not pose an i mmedi ate hazard, because the
| eak was at the top of the tank; gasoline could not seep out. The
| eak did, however, allow water to enter into the tank and
contam nate the gas. Because water is heavier than gas, the water
sank to the bottom of the tank, and because the tank was punped
fromthe bottom Ahmad was unable to sell fromit.

In COctober 1993, Ahmad hired CITT Environnental Services
(“CTT"), a tank testing conpany, to examne the tank. CTT
determ ned that it contained approxi mately 800 gallons of water,
and the rest nostly gasoline. Jewel MCoy, a CIT enployee,
testified that she told Ahnad that the | eak could not be repaired
until the tank was conpletely enptied, which CTIT offered to do for
65¢ per gallon plus $65 per hour of |abor. After McCoy gave Ahnad

this estimate, he i nquired whether he could enpty the tank hi nsel f.

She replied that it would be dangerous and illegal to do so. On
her testinony, he responded, “Well, if | don’t get caught, what
t hen?”

On January 25, 1994, Ahnad rented a hand-hel d notori zed water
2



punp froma | ocal hardware store, telling a hardware store enpl oyee
that he was planning to use it to renove water from his backyard.
Victor Fonseca, however, identified Ahmad and the punp and
testified that he had seen Ahmad punpi ng gasoline into the street.
Oscar Alvarez stated that he had seen Ahnmad and anot her person
di scharging gasoline into a manhole. Tereso Wibe testified that
he had confronted Ahmad and asked hi m what was going on, to which
Ahmad responded that he was sinply renoving the water from the
t ank.

In all, 5,220 gallons of fluid were punped from the |eaky
tank, of which approximately 4,690 gall ons were gasoline. Sone of
the gas-water mxture ran down Lewis Street and sone into the
manhole in front of the store.

The gasoline discharged onto Lewis Street went a few hundred
feet along the curb to Third Street, where it entered a stormdrain
and the storm sewer system and flowed through a pipe that
eventually enpties into Possum Creek. When city officials
di scovered the next day that there was gasoline in Possum Creek,
several vacuum trucks were required to decontamnate it. Possum
Creek feeds into the San Jacinto Ri ver, which eventually flows into
Lake Houst on.

The gasoline that Ahmad discharged into the nmanhole went a

different route: It flowed through the sanitary sewer system and



eventually entered the city sewage treatnent plant.? On
January 26, enployees at the treatnent plant discovered a 1, 000-
gal l on pool of gasoline in one of the intake ponds. To avoid
shutting down the plant altogether, they diverted the pool of
gasoline and all incomng liquidinto a 5,000, 000-gal |l on energency
| agoon.

The pl ant supervisor ordered that non-essential personnel be
evacuated fromthe plant and called firefighters and a hazardous
materials crewto the scene. The Conroe fire departnent determ ned
the gasoline was creating a risk of explosion and ordered that two
near by schools be evacuated. Al t hough no one was injured as a
result of the discharge, fire officials testified at trial that
Ahmad had created a “trenendous expl osi on hazard” that coul d have
led to “hundreds, if not thousands, of deaths and injuries” and
mllions of dollars of property danmage.

By 9:00 a.m on January 26, investigators had traced the
source of the gasoline back to the manhole directly in front of the
Spin-N-Market. Their suspicions were confirnmed when they noticed
a strong odor of gasoline and saw si gns of corrosion on the asphalt
surroundi ng the manhole. The investigators questioned Ahmad, who
at first denied having operated a punp the previous night. Soon,

however, his story changed: He admtted to having used a punp but

! Conroe’s sanitary sewer systemis conpletely independent of its storm
sewer system the two serve different purposes, enpty into different |ocations,
and share no conmobn pi pes.
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deni ed havi ng punped anything from his tanks.

Ahmad was indicted for three violations of the CM: know ngly
di scharging a pollutant froma point source into a navi gabl e water
of the United States without a permt, inviolation of 33 U S.C. 88
1311(a) and 1319(c)(2) (A (count one); know ngly operating a source
inviolation of a pretreatnent standard, in violation of 33 U S. C
88 1317(d) and 1319(c)(2)(A) (count two); and knowi ngly placing
anot her person in i mm nent danger of death or serious bodily injury
by di scharging a pollutant, in violation of 33 U S.C. § 1319(c)(3)
(count three). At trial, Ahmad did not dispute that he had
di scharged gasoline fromthe tank or that eventually it had found
its way to Possum Creek and the sewage treatnent plant. |nstead,
he contended that his discharge of the gasoline was not “know ng,”
because he had believed he was di schargi ng water.

One of the key pieces of evidence Ahnad attenpted to i ntroduce
in support of this theory was the testinony of Mohamed Abassi and
Shahid Latif, who would have told the jury that Ahmad was at the
Spin-N-Market only until 7:30 or 8:00 p.m on January 25, and not
the entire evening as the governnent contended. The gist of this
was an attenpt to show that Ahmad did not know ngly discharge
gasoline hinself, but rather only negligently left the punp in the
hands of his enployees. The district court found Abassi's and
Latif’s testinony irrel evant and excluded it. The jury found Ahmad

guilty on counts one and two and deadl ocked on count three.



Ahmad argues that the district court inproperly instructed the

jury on the nens rea required for counts one and two. The

instruction on count one stated in relevant part:

For you to find M. Ahnmad guilty of this crine, you nust
be convinced that the governnent has proved each of the
foll ow ng beyond a reasonabl e doubt:

(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

On count two,

That on or about the date set forth in the
i ndi ct nent,

t he def endant know ngly di scharged

a pol | ut ant

froma point source

into the navigable waters of the United States

W thout a permt to do so.

the court instructed the jury:

In order to prove the defendant guilty of the offense

char ged

in Count 2 of the indictnent, the governnent nust

prove beyond a reasonable doubt each of the follow ng

el ement s:

(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)

(5)

That on or about the date set forth in the
i ndi ct nent

t he def endant,

who was the owner or operator of a source,

know ngly operated that source by discharging into
a public sewer system or publicly owned treatnent

wor ks

a pollutant that created a fire or expl osi on hazard



in that public sewer system or publicly owned
treat ment works.

Ahmad contends that the jury should have been instructed that
the statutory nens reaSSknow edgeSSwas required as to each el enent
of the offenses, rather than only with regard to discharge or the
operation of a source. Because Ahnmad requested such instruction,
we review the refusal to give it for abuse of discretion.

Under this standard, we will affirmif the charge, viewed in
its entirety, is a correct statenment of the law that plainly
instructs jurors on the relevant principles of law. United States
v. Allibhai, 939 F.2d 244, 251 (5th Gr. 1991), cert. denied, 502
U S 1072 (1992). We will reverse a conviction, on the other hand,
if the instructions do not correctly state the law. United States
v. Gay, 96 F.3d 769, 775 (5th Cr. 1996); United States v.
Townsend, 31 F.3d 262, 270 (5th Gr. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S
. 773 (1995). The matter of to which elenents of the offenses
the word “knowi ngly” applies is a question of pure statutory
construction that we review de novo. United States v. Snyder, 930
F.2d 1090, 1093 (5th Gir.), cert. denied, 502 U S. 942 (1991).

The |anguage of the CWA is less than pellucid. Title
33 U S.C 8 1319(c)(2)(A) says that “any person who know ngly
vi ol ates” any of a nunber of other sections of the CWA commts a
f el ony. One of the provisions that 8§ 1319(c)(2)(A) makes it

unlawful to violate is §8 1311(a), which, when read together with a



series of definitions in 8 1362, prohibits the addition of any
pol lutant to navigable waters froma “point source.” That was the
crime charged in count one. Section 1319(c)(2)(A also
crimnalizes violations of § 1317(d), which prohibits the operation
of any “source” in a way that contravenes any effluent standard,
prohi bition, or pretreatnent standard. That was the crine charged
in count two.

The principal issue is to which elenents of the offense the
nmodi fier “knowi ngly” applies. The matter is conplicated sonmewhat
by the fact that the phrase “knowingly violates” appears in a
different section of the CWA from the |anguage defining the
el emrents of the offenses. Ahnmad argues that within this context,
“knowi ngly violates” should be read to require him knowingly to
have acted wth regard to each elenent of the offenses. The
governnent, in contrast, contends that “know ngly violates”
requires it to prove only that Ahmad knew the nature of his acts
and that he perforned themintentionally. Particularly at issueis
whet her “knowi ngly” applies to the el enent of the di scharge's being
a pollutant, for Ahnmad’s nmain theory at trial was that he thought
he was di schargi ng water, not gasoline.

The Suprenme Court has spoken to this issue in broad terns. In
United States v. X-Ctenment Video, Inc., 115 S. C. 464, 467
(1994), the Court read “knowingly” to apply to each elenent of a

child pornography offense, notwthstanding its conclusion that



under the “nobst natural grammatical reading” of the statute it
should apply only to the elenent of having transported, shipped,
recei ved, distributed, or reproduced the nmaterial at issue. The
Court also reaffirmed the long-held view that “the presunption in
favor of a scienter requirenment should apply to each of the
statutory elenents which crimnalize otherw se i nnocent conduct.”
ld. at 469.

Although X-Citenent Video is the Court’s nost recent
pronouncenent on this subject, it is not the first. |In Staples v.
United States, 511 U S. 600, 619-20 (1994), the Court found that
the statutes crimnalizing know ng possession of a nmachinegun,
26 U S. C. 88 5845(a)(6) and 5861(d), require that defendants know
not only that they possess a firearm but that it actually is a
machi negun. Thus, an awareness of the features of the
gunSSspecifically, the features that nake it an aut omati ¢ weaponSSi s
a necessary elenent of the offense.? Mre generally, the Court
al so made plain that statutory crines carrying severe penalties are
presuned to require that a defendant know the facts that nmake his
conduct illegal. Id.

Qur own precedents are in the sanme vein. In United States v.
Bayt ank (Houston), Inc., 934 F.2d 599, 613 (5th Cr. 1991), we
concluded that a conviction for know ng and inproper storage of

hazar dous wastes under 42 U. S. C. § 6928(d)(2)(A) requires “that the

2Accord United States v. Anderson, 885 F.2d 1248 (5th Cir. 1989) (en banc).
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def endant know[] factually what he is doi ngSSstoring, what is being
stored, and that what is being stored factually has the potenti al
for harmto others or the environnent, and that he has no permt

" This is directly analogous to the interpretation of the
CWA that Ahmad urges upon us. I ndeed, we find it emnently
sensible that the phrase “knowingly violates” in 8 1319(c)(2) (A,
when referring to other provisions that define the el enents of the
of fenses 8§ 1319 creates, should uniformy require know edge as to
each of those elenents rather than only one or two. To hold
otherwi se would require an explanation as to why sone elenents
should be treated differently from others, which neither the
parties nor the casel aw seens able to provide.

In support of its interpretation of the CWM, the governnent
cites cases from other circuits. W find these decisions both
i napposi te and unpersuasi ve on the point for which they are cited.
In United States v. Hopkins, 53 F.3d 533, 537-41 (2d Cr. 1995),
cert. denied, 116 S. . 773 (1996), the court held that the
government need not denonstrate that a § 1319(c)(2)(A) defendant
knew his acts were illegal. The illegality of the defendant’s
actions is not an elenent of the offense, however. In United
States v. Weitzenhoff, 35 F.3d 1275 (9th Cr. 1994), cert. denied,
115 S. . 939 (1995), the court simlarly was concerned al nost
excl usively with whet her the | anguage of the CWA creates a m st ake-

of -1 aw def ense. Both cases are easily distinguishable, for neither
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directly addresses m stake of fact or the statutory construction
i ssues raised by Ahnad.

The governnent al so protests that CWA violations fall into the
judicially-created exception for “public welfare offenses,” under
which sonme regulatory crinmes have been held not to require a
showi ng of nens rea. Onits face, the CWA certainly does appear to
inplicate public welfare.

As recent cases have enphasi zed, however, the public welfare
of fense exception is narrow. The Staples Court, for exanple, held
that the statute prohibiting the possession of machi neguns fel
out si de the exception, notw thstanding the fact that “[t]ypically,
our cases recogni zi ng such of fenses invol ve statutes that regul ate
potentially harnful or injurious itens.” Staples, 511 U S. at 607
(citation omtted).

Though gasoline is a “potentially harnful or injurious item”
it is certainly no nore so than are machi neguns. Rather, Staples
held, the key to the public welfare offense analysis is whether
“dispensing with nens rea would require the defendant to have
know edge only of traditionally |awful conduct.” |1d. at 618. The
CWA offenses of which Ahnmad was convicted have precisely this
characteristic, for if know edge is not required as to the nature
of the substance discharged, one who honestly and reasonably
believes he is discharging water may find hinmself guilty of a

felony if the substance turns out to be sonething el se.
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The fact that violations of 8§ 1319(c)(2)(A) are felonies
puni shabl e by years in federal prison confirnms our view that they
do not fall within the public welfare offense exception. As the
Stapl es Court noted, public welfare offenses have virtually al ways
been crinmes punishable by relatively light penalties such as fines
or short jail sentences, rather than substantial terns of
i npri sonnent . ld. at 1802-03. Serious felonies, in contrast,
should not fall within the exception “absent a clear statenent from
Congress that nens rea is not required.” I1d. at 618. Follow ng
Staples, we hold that the offenses charged in counts one and two
are not public welfare offenses and that the usual presunption of
a nmens rea requirenent applies. Wth the exception of purely
jurisdictional elenents, the nens rea of know edge applies to each
el ement of the crines.

Finally, the governnment argues that the instructions,
consi dered as a whol e, adequately conveyed to the jury the nessage
that Ahnmad had to have known that what he was discharging was
gasoline in order for the jury to find himguilty. W disagree.

At best, the jury charge made it uncertain to which el enents
“knowi ngly” applied. At worst, and considerably nore likely, it
indicated that only the el enent of discharge need be knowi ng. The
instructions |listed each el enent on a separate line, with the word
“knowi ngly” present only in the line corresponding to the el enent

t hat sonet hi ng was di scharged. That the district court included a
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one-sentence sunmary of each count in which “knowi ngly” was present
did not cure the error.

The obvious inference for the jury was that know edge was
required only as to the fact that sonethi ng was di scharged, and not
as to any other fact. In effect, with regard to the other el enents
of the crines, the instructions inplied that the requisite nens rea
was strict liability rather than know edge.

There was at |east a reasonable likelihood that the jury
applied the instructions in this way, see Victor v. Nebraska,
511 U.S. 1, 6 (1994), so we conclude that the instructions msled
the jury as to the elenents of the offense. Because the charge
effectively withdrew fromthe jury's consideration facts that it
shoul d have been permtted to find or not find, this error requires

reversal .

L1,

Havi ng found reversible error in the instructions, we need not
consi der Ahmad’ s ot her argunents. Gven that this case likely wll
be tried again, however, we wll address, in the interest of
judicial econony, the exclusion of two of Ahnmad’' s w t nesses.

Ahmad argues that the district court inproperly excluded the
testinony of two individuals who woul d have testified that he was
not at the Spin-N Market from approximately 7:30 or 8:00 p.m on

January 25 through 12:45 a.m on January 26. These wi t nesses,
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Mohamred Abassi and Shahid Latif, were intended to support Ahnad’ s
theory that he started the punp and | eft the Spin-N Market shortly
thereafter, in contrast to the governnent’s theory that he was
there all evening. They were not intended to showthat he had been
conpletely uninvolved in the incident. Whet her Ahmad punped at
| east sonme of the fluid was not in issue; his counsel conceded at
trial that “he started it [the punp] off.”

The first of these wtnesses was Abassi, to whose testinony
t he governnent objected on the ground that it tended to establish
an alibi. After some confusion over whether the defense was
required to give the governnent notice of alibi under FED. R CR M
P. 12.1(a),® Ahmad’'s counsel settled on the argunent that Abassi’s
testinony was not being offered as an alibi, but rather only to
show t hat Ahmad had | eft the store during the evening in question.
This, he argued, would support the theory that Ahmad’'s viol ation
had been negligent rather than knowing, in the sense that he
negligently left the store in the care of his untrai ned enpl oyees.
The court responded that because it did not intend to give an
instruction on the |lesser included offense of a negligent
violation, Abassi’s testinony was irrelevant, and excluded it on
t hat ground.*

Qur exam nation of the exclusion of evidenceis limted to the

1t was not; the governnment did not request such notice.

4 phrmad ultimately requested, and the court denied, a |esser included
of fense instruction on each of the charged crines.
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grounds that were proffered for its admssion at trial. See, e.g.,
United States v. Mjia, 844 F.2d 209, 214-15 (5th Gr. 1988).
G ven the basis on which Abassi’s testinony was offered, the only
way in which it could have been rel evant was to support a theory of
negligent rather than knowing violation. This in turn neans that
the testinmony was irrelevant unless Ahnmad was entitled to an
instruction on the |esser included offense. | f he was not so
entitled, the evidence was properly excluded. W conclude to the
contrary.

In Sansone v. United States, 380 U S. 343, 350 (1965), the
Court held that a defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed
on a lesser included offense if there is an evidentiary basis that
would allow a finding of guilt of the |esser offense and “the
charged greater offense requires the jury to find a disputed
factual el ement which is not required for conviction of the | esser-
i ncl uded offense.” Thus the test we apply for whether the
instruction should be given is two-pronged: “(1) [T] he el enents of
the | esser offense nust be a subset of the el enents of the charged
of fense; and (2) the evidence at trial nust be such that a jury
could rationally find the defendant guilty of the |esser offense,

yet acquit himof the greater.”®

SUnited States v. Browner, 889 F.2d 549, 550-51 (5th Cir. 1989) (citing
Schnmuck v. United States, 489 U. S. 705, 715-16 &n. 8 (1989)), appeal after remand,
937 F.2d 165 (5th Cir. 1991). See also United States v. Harrison, 55 F. 3d 163, 166
(5th Cir. 1995), cert. denied, 116 S. Ct. 324 (1995); United States v. Deisch, 20
F.3d 139, 142 (5th Cir. 1994).
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It is self-evident that Ahnad net the first prong of the test,
for know ng violations of 88 1311 and 1317(d) require everything
t hat negligent violations do, and nore. The second prong, however,
is less easily disposed of.

The district court’s instructions and its rulings on Ahnmad’ s
proposed i nstructions i ndicate that it thought “know ngly” nodified
only the elenent that sonething was discharged. Were this the
correct interpretation of the CWM, the |lesser included offense
instruction woul d have been correctly deni ed, because no rational
jury sinultaneously could have found both (1) that Ahmad did not
know t hat he was operating the punp and (2) that he was negligent
wth regard to whether he was operating it. Indeed, on the facts
as presented, the idea that Ahmad could have been negligent with
regard to whether a punp was being operated is al nbst nonsensi cal .

Wth regard to the other elenents of the crinme, however, there
is a vivid and sensible distinction between negligence and
know edge. Having held that the district court’s interpretation of
the CWA was incorrect, we also nust conclude that it erred in
refusing to give the | esser included offense instruction. Because
the statutory nens rea applies to nultiple elenents of the offense,
such as whet her what was being discharged was a pollutant, there
was anpl e evidence to support the |l esser violation.

Most of Ahmad’ s defense, after all, was built around the idea

that he thought water, rather than gasoline, was being di scharged.
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A rational jury could so have found, and at the sane tine could
have found that he did not actually know that he was punpi ng gas.
Because the lesser included offense instruction was inproperly
deni ed, Abassi's and Latif’s testinony was inproperly excluded as
well. We remand with instruction that, if this case is retried,
the adm ssibility of this testinony be reconsidered in light of the

f or egoi ng.

| V.
Because we reverse Ahmad’' s convictions, we need not address
his sentencing clains. The convictions are REVERSED and t he case

REMANDED.
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